IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. 71,729

FREDERICK NOWITZKE,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

SID J. WHITE

FEB 28 1990

CLERK, SUPPREME COURT By,

Deputy Clerk

Niginally filed 2-5-90

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR MANATEE COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

rected

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT FLORIDA BAR NO. 0143265

STEVEN L. BOLOTIN ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33830 (813) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Frederick Nowitzke was charged with first degree murder of his mother (Frances Carroll) and step-brother (Bret Carroll), and with attempted first degree murder of his stepfather (Clay Carroll). (R3792, 4201-02) He was found incompetent to stand trial, and was hospitalized at the North Florida Evaluation and Treatment Center for six months. (R3815-17, 3536) At the end of that period, the trial court found that he was competent. (R3542)

The case proceeded to trial on October 26 - November 12, 1987 before Acting Circuit Judge Walter R. Talley and a jury. The defense was insanity. Appellant was found guilty as charged on all three counts. (R4207-08, 4168, 3234) After the penalty phase, the jury recommended life imprisonment for the murder of Frances Carroll, and death (by a 7-5 vote) for the murder of Bret Carroll. (R4209-10, 3483-84) At sentencing on December 18, 1987, the trial court followed both recommendations, and also imposed a consecutive seventeen year sentence on the attempted murder count. (R4211-15, 4178-80, 3784-90) The trial court orally announced his findings in support of the death penalty. (R3786-89) While he stated that he would reduce his notes to writing and file them (R3787), it does not appear that he ever did so. (see R4280)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. BACKGROUND

Appellant, Frederick Nowitzke, known as Rick, is the youngest of three children of Frederick and Frances Nowitzke. Appellant had a grandmother who, in the 1930s, was diagnosed with "dementia praecox" (now referred to as schizophrenia), and died in a New Jersey state hospital. One of appellant's great-grandfathers spent the last ten years of his life in a mental institution in Italy, in a catatonic schizophrenic state. (R2196, 2216, 2225)

Appellant was born in 1959. Two years later, his father was diagnosed as having a cancerous tumor of the spine; it was estimated that he had only two or three years to live. On recommendation of the doctors, the family (including

Rick's older siblings Joyce and Jim) moved to Florida. As Frederick, Sr.'s disability worsened, the family received V.A. benefits and disability checks, and Frances worked as a secretary. Rick attended the Bradenton schools, where he was an average student and was considered quiet and rather shy. In high school, he dated a girl named Susan Parish. They broke up after graduation, but continued to be friends.

Meanwhile, to everyone's surprise, Frederick, Sr. survived as an invalid for approximately twenty years. After his death, Frances began dating Clay Carroll. The Carroll family had lived across the street from the Nowitzkes for about seventeen years. Clay, a former major league baseball pitcher, was divorced from his first wife, Judy, in 1981. They had three children, Connie, Lori and Bret. On April 1, 1983, Frances Nowitzke and Clay Carroll were married, and Clay, Lori, and Bret moved into the Nowitzke home.

Joyce and Jim Nowitzke had each married by that time and moved out on their own, but appellant was still living at home, and working as a landscaper. In 1985 appellant's friends began noticing an abrupt change in his personality and behavior.

B. <u>APPELLANT'S BEHAVIOR IN THE MONTHS</u> <u>PRECEDING THE SHOOTINGS</u>

Susan Parish, appellant's former girlfriend, testified that they had continued to see each other as friends after their relationship ended. During 1985, appellant began acting strangely. In the spring of that year, he began talking about a black raven-type bird which was following him everywhere: in his car, on his motorcycle. He was always looking up for the bird. He would also look around and talk, as if speaking to someone, when there was nobody there. Susan knew that he was "losing it." Asked what she meant by that, she replied:

Losing his mind. I -- I've known him for ten years and I had never -- he was always real quiet and soft spoken; and he was a very good person, in my book, and I've never seen him hurt anyone. ... And I just couldn't understand why he was always j'ust so nervous and just high-strung and paranoid and talking about birds and stuff. I knew that he wasn't the same person.

(R2486-91)

Mark Lavallee had known appellant for nine years as a friend and as an employee. Lavallee was appellant's supervisor at Neal and Neal, where appellant worked in new site development and landscaping. They became friends, and were roommates for several years. Beginning in 1984, Lavallee observed that appellant was behaving oddly. He would be paranoid that people were watching him or birds were following him. The birds would be sitting in a tree or flying around the dumpsters; appellant would point them out and say "See, they are right there." When Lavallee would question him about such remarks, appellant never **could** give a good explanation; he just felt like it was a curse, that they were following him. Lavallee thought appellant was suicidal, because he had gotten very morose and felt like everything was going wrong. Appellant's odd behavior and his comments about birds continued through the summer and early fall of 1985. He made a number of remarks to Lavallee to the effect that the bottom of the lake was calling to him'. Lavallee testified:

He really couldn't explain himself. He always had said "That lake, I know it's calling me. I'm going to have to go down and see on the bottom of the lake." He really felt like that lake had a lot to do with his problems.

Appellant said he was going to get some scuba gear and see what was really calling him to the bottom of the lake. He told Lavallee that he "felt these vibes" that there was a message down there for him. According to Lavallee, appellant would bring up the lake "all the time." In Lavallee's opinion, appellant's comments about the lake and about the birds following him were serious and not joking.

Lavallee testified that during most of the nine years he knew him, appellant was "pretty outgoing -- he was a quiet, but peaceful person. He really liked the outdoors. He liked animals. He had horses, dogs. He liked to swim. Within the last year there, there was a complete change." (R2502-15)

Mark McMahon, a rebuttal witness called by the prosecution², testified on

There was a small lake or pond behind the Nowitzke home.

² McMahon testified on direct that he saw appellant at about 8:00 p.m. on November 15, 1985, the evening before the shootings, at a mutual friend's house, (continued...)

cross-examination that he and appellant have been friends since childhood. They grew up in the same neighborhood, and attended the same schools. After high school, they continued to see each other often, and on several occasions they worked together. During the months prior to November 15, 1985, McMahon noticed a change in appellant's behavior and personality. It came on slowly at first, but McMahon said "There was no question in my mind that there was an obvious change." Appellant began to make remarks which were "off the wall", unrelated to the topic of conversation; he would "just kind of break away from the situation at hand and kind of go into his own little world." The content of his statements made no sense, and were inappropriate to what was happening at the time; they were "weird and bizarre." At times, appellant would bring up the lake; "[t]here was just an obvious obsession with the lake." McMahon elaborated:

Strange as it may sound, there being a door -- he mentioned something about a door, a passageway, through the lake. Into what, I really didn't know; and I didn't feel like going into it any further, you know.

The change in appellant's personality and behavior was obvious to others, and the question of "What's the matter with Rick" was discussed among family and friends. Even though he was aware at the time that appellant used drugs, McMahon did not attribute appellant's strange behavior and remarks to drug use; he felt it was something deeper than that. (R2723-35)

James Moon was a neighbor of the Nowitzkes; the lake or pond is common to both of their back yards. Moon had known appellant for about 12-13 years, and described him as a quiet, reserved person. During the second week of November 1985, Moon was doing yard work when he saw appellant swimming around the lake. Appellant had on a wet suit, a pair of fins, a mask, and a snorkel, and he was swimming in a kind of zigzag pattern in one particular spot, looking down into the lake. Moon thought to himself that it was "something that I probably wouldn't have been doing for fun at that time of the year." He testified:

²(...continued)

and that appellant took a drug which McMahon described as "assumably, cocaine." (R2721-23)

[T]he lake is not a real clear lake and its got a real muddy bottom, and you can't see the bottom. And as I remember, it was chilly.

Moon said he saw appellant with his head under water, breathing through the snorkel. Moon (a scuba instructor himself) testified that he had never seen that lake where you could see the bottom from the surface. "You went down and you said 'I know its there somewheres', and pretty soon you were down around swimming in the mud. So its not a fun place to do anything but swim on the surface." Moon offered appellant the use of a weight belt, so he could get something other than his head below the surface, but appellant declined.

In years past, Moon had often seen appellant swimming in the lake with is whole family, but he had never seen him snorkeling like that. (R2440-47)

Robert Brown had been a close friend of appellant's for fifteen years, from the neighborhood and school. On November 15, 1985, Brown was driving by appellant's house and saw appellant outside in the garage area. He stopped to say hello. Appellant's appearance and dress were no different than usual, but, according to Brown, "He was really quiet and I -- I didn't really understand where he was coming from. He didn't really respond to anything I was saying in a viable manner. I didn't -- I didn't really understand him. I felt uneasy being with him. It was very strange." Appellant kept saying things that didn't mean anything, and Brown wondered what was the matter with him. "I didn't know what to think." Appellant was "jst kind of mumbling about different things," and his response to Brown's questions or comments were not normal or appropriate. Brown felt strange and uncomfortable being there with him, and was anxious to get away.

Brown testified that he had felt strongly that for the last six months to a year or even longer, appellant was losing his ability to function and lead a normal life, at work and socially with friends. Brown felt badly for him, and was concerned. "But that night in particular, he seemed worse to me, and

detached almost. He wasn't the same Rick that I knew." (R2451-57)³

Harold Parish, the brother of Susan Parish, saw appellant at Susan's house on Friday evening, November 15, 1985 (the night before the shootings took place). Appellant seemed confused; he was making comments about joining the military service, and kept looking at his watch, saying he had to meet a recruiter at 10:00 p.m. When Harold asked him why it was necessary for him to meet a military recruiter at ten in the evening, he "did not get any answer with the exception he wanted to join a Service to better his life. He was very confused, he had a lot of problems." Harold asked appellant if he'd like to go fishing with him, and they decided to set up a fishing trip for the following afternoon. Appellant left at about twenty minutes to ten, and returned about half an hour later.

That night was the first time in two years that Harold had seen appellant for any length of time. Harold was trying to talk to appellant, but could not understand what he was getting at. When he had seen him in the past, in contrast, "I could sit down and talk to him and we could exchange words and understand each other." Harold testified:

But two years prior to that [November 15, 1985], Rick seemed to be himself. There was -- you know, he was just a happy person; shy, didn't really talk a lot, and would always offer, you know, comments if you have a discussion with him. But the night before, which was the night that I seen him, it just wasn't Rick.

(R2474-81)

C. THE EVENTS OF NOVEMBER 16, 1985

Deborah Wiggins, a topless dancer at the Peek-a-Boo Lounge in Bradenton, noticed appellant in that establishment at about 5:00 p.m. on November 16. Appellant paid her for a dance. As Ms. Wiggins danced for him, she observed that his entire body was trembling, to such an extent that she described him as a "human vibrator." Appellant would not look at her, but instead kept staring at the mirrored ball which was hanging from the ceiling. His eyes were "like

³ Observations by appellant's friends to the effect that "He was a different person" and "It just wasn't Rick" were a recurrent theme. See R2457 (Robert Brown); 2467-69 (Arthur Brown); 2478 (Harold Parish); 2491 (Susan Parish).

dysfunctional, almost"; the pupils were "like dilated ... They were huge-like." She thought he had a glass eye at first. According to Ms. Wiggins, he looked scared and pitiful. She believed that he was under the influence of cocaine.

Ms. Wiggins kept asking appellant if he was all right, maybe half a dozen times. Two or three times appellant said "I have to go. There's something I have to do." Ms. Wiggins went on to other customers; she did not see appellant leave. (R2053-69)

Clay Carroll, appellant's stepfather, testified that in the early evening of November 16 he and Bret were watching television, while Frances and Lori were preparing supper. Appellant came inside the house and asked Clay, "You going out on the boat?" Clay replied, "No, we never go out on Saturday night." Appellant went to the bathroom, then came back out and went outside through the patio and back door. When supper was ready, Frances went outside and hollered for appellant, but he never came back in. After the meal, Frances and Lori did the dishes, and Clay and Bret watched some more TV. When the dishes were finished, Lori left to go baby-sit. After a while, appellant came back in through the patio and went to his room. Frances went in there with him. They were in there "a good 20 minutes or more." Clay did not know what they were talking about.

Appellant and Frances came out of the bedroom and went through the kitchen area toward a closet by the front door. Clay asked "what's up?" or "Where's he going?" and Frances said "He's going to a belated Halloween party." At that point, Clay noticed that appellant was standing there with a shotgun in his hand, and another gun either in a holster or strapped to his side. Clay said "Something's up", and appellant said "That's right." Clay got up from his chair and walked through the kitchen. Frances was standing right behind appellant. Appellant pointed the shotgun at Clay. Clay told Bret (who was still sitting down, and did not know what was going on) to get out of the house. Clay got behind a wall, and when appellant came through again, Clay grabbed him and knocked him up against the wall. He took the shotgun away from appellant again,

because he remembered the other gun, he was shot in the head and fell to the floor. He kept hearing gunshots, and Frances fell on top of him. Clay was down for a minute or more, but he never lost consciousness. When he got to his feet, he shook Frances, but got no response. As he was going to the telephone, he saw Bret lying on the floor with his legs shaking. Clay called 911, and put a rag under Bret's head, and waited for the paramedics to arrive. (R2122-34)

The first paramedic unit arrived at the residence at about 7:45 p.m. Clay Carroll met them at the front door. Bobby Weldon, an E.M.T., asked him if the person who did it was still there, and Clay said no. The police arrived a few minutes later. Frances Carroll was lying face down on the floor in the front hallway with a gunshot wound to the back of the head. She had no pulse, or virtually no pulse; the paramedics determined that the injury was fatal and that life support measures would be in vain. Bret Carroll was lying face down in the dining room area, with the shotgun next to him. He had a gunshot wound to the right temple and another to the left flank, and appeared to be unconscious. When paramedic Weldon rolled him over, he opened his eyes momentarily and said "He's coming back to get us." (R1740-48, 1750, 1753-54, 1765-66, 1771-767) [Both Frances and Bret died from their head injuries. Clay was hospitalized for several weeks and underwent surgery for a fractured jaw. (R1867-72, 2013-16, 2025-26, 2031-33, 2136)]

Clay Carroll told the police officers that his stepson Rick had done the shootings, and described appellant's motorcycle. In the garage, the paramedics and police found a dog lying motionless on the floor; it had been fatally injured by a shotgun blast. The other dog in the residence was unharmed. Outside the garage, in the driveway, one tire on Clay Carroll's automobile was flattened, and one tire on Clay's boat trailer was also flattened. (R1748, 1768-70, 1835, 1886)

Cynthia Coey, a neighbor from across the street, told police she had heard a couple of pops, which she thought was a car backfiring, and a few minutes later heard a dog yelping. After she heard the dog, she saw someone about to get on appellant's motorcycle. (R1848-49, 1890)

Susan Parish, appellant's former girlfriend, heard a motorcycle pull up in her driveway at about 8:00 p.m. There was a knock on her door but she did not answer it. She then heard the motorcycle drive away. (R2498-99)

Joseph Hampton, a neighbor, arrived home from dinner at about 10:00 p.m., when he saw a lot of cars and noticed the crime scene tape. Another neighbor told him there had been a shooting. As Hampton walked across the street to talk to a police officer, a motorcycle drove by him at a very slow rate of speed. The motorcyclist went down to where the street reached a dead end, got off the motorcycle, and walked into the woods, in the direction of the lake. Hampton went over and began talking with a policewoman, who told him "We think that Rick did the shooting and left on his motorcycle." Upon hearing that, Hampton said "He's right down the street." (R1853-55)

The police officers parked their vehicles at the dead end, and turned up Appellant's sister, Joyce Seelbach, a civilian police the P.A. system. employee, tried to talk him into coming out. When there was no response, a tracking dog was brought in. The dog, Thor, picked up the scent from the motorcycle. State troopers Costanzo and Betts and Lieutenant Hackle of the Sheriff's Department followed Thor into the brush. After they had gone about one hundred yards, Thor alerted and lurched at the suspect; Betts hollered "Don't move." Appellant was lying in a swale or ditch, covered by thickets. At the officers' direction, appellant came out of the brush on his belly, spread eagle. Appellant told them he was not armed. Hackle advised him of his Miranda rights, and then asked him what he had done with the gun. Appellant said he had buried it at another location. According to Hackle, appellant was visibly shaken and crying.

Appellant got in a patrol car with Lt. Hackle and Sgt. Benjamin, and directed them to the area where he had buried the gun. Costanzo and the dog followed in another vehicle. They drove a couple of miles to an area off Cortez Road, parked near a building under construction, and walked along a dirt path to another lake. At first they were unable to find the exact location where the gun was buried. The dog, Thor, was again enlisted to do an "article search",

and he discovered the weapon buried and covered with a palm frond, about three feet away from the lake. Buried along with the .22 revolver were two unspent shells, three knives, two knife sheaths, a belt, and a paper bag. (R1899-1916, 1922-23, 1937-48, 1958, 1994-96)

D APPELLANT'S VIDEOTAPED STATEMENT

That same night at 12:57 a.m. appellant was interviewed at the Manatee County Jail by Detectives Nipper and Keough. The interview was videotaped through a one-way mirror. (R2433-39, State Exh. 18, Def. Exh. 1)

When Detective Nipper asked appellant if there had been an argument at his house that evening, appellant replied that there had been one little argument, about wearing shoes in the house. Nipper asked what happened next. Appellant said:

Ah --- it's kinda hard to remember. Ah, I was getting [these] strange feelings and I had to get rid of em. They were opposing me from accelerating or getting out and ah, crazy. Ahm, you all know (laughter).

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