IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FREDERICK NOWITZKE,

Appellant,

v.

14

Case No. 71,729

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

AKK VV JOSO

!

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE





APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR MANATEE COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

WILLIAM I. MUNSEY, JR.
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0152141
1313 TAMPA STREET, SUITE 804
PARK TRAMMELL BUILDING
TAMPA, FLORIDA 33602
(813) 272-2670

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

and in consideration for rendition of that opinion and the basis of that opinion, the expert is paid a fee in a search for the truth.

The writings of Thomas Szasz are known to both the public and the psychiatric community. Dr. Szasz was recognized by Dr. Tanay in his speech; and, his speech focused on Dr. Szasz. When one enters the public light, then one's words [both spoken and writtenl are relevant. The cross-examination of Dr. Tanay established that he has been rather prolific in the dissemination of his opinions. The trial court was most careful to protect Dr. Tanay from both harassment and undue embarrassment. §90.612(1)(c), Florida Statutes (1989). Questions such as these are left to the trial court's discretion. It was established that Dr. Tanay had debated Dr. Szasz on November 8, 1982, in Detroit; and, Dr. Tanay recalled the debate. (R 2322-23) Upon reviewing a transcript of the debate, Dr. Tanay's memory was refreshed and he did recall the comment. In fact, Dr. Tanay clarified and explained the prosecution's characterization that "Dr. Szasz has called psycniatrists generally like me hired quns." (R 2326) Dr. Tanay recognizes Dr. Szasz an an expert in psychiatry; otherwise, why would he have dignified Dr. Szasz in a professional debate publicized as Hero or Hoax exploring the validity of forensic psychiatry? (R 2322) Obviously, Dr. Tanay has recognized Dr. Szasz and his works [in particular the transcript of Hero or Hoax] as authoritative even though Dr. Tanay continues to lend nonrecognition to Dr. Szasz's opinion.

The trial court, under g90.706, Florida Statutes (1989) has not abused its discretion in allowing the cross-examination as to the factual basis of Dr. Tanay's impression of Dr. Szasz and his works. What Appellant does not overlook, and Appellee agrees, is that the prosecution and defense of these capital cases is a "battle of the experts.'' See, Langston v. King, 410 So.2d 179, 180 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982). This is modern day litigation. (R 2587). The trial court has not abused its discretion; and, if there was error, and there was none, then at most it was harmless error. See, §§59.041 and 924.33, Florida Statutes (1989) and State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986).

B. Dr. Tanay's Bill

11

That Dr. Tanay tendered paid a monetary consideration for his time in both deposition and trial was a matter which the trier of fact was entitled to know. Dr. Tanay's fee is \$150.00/hour. For a three-hour deposition, Dr. Tanay charged \$1,800.00; however, Dr. Tanay defended his fee by pointing out that he "billed" for preparation time. (R 2393-97)

As pointed out in <u>Tenzer v. Lewitinn</u>, 599 F.Supp. 973, 974 (S.D. New York 1985): "The expert witness, or 'hired gun'-is hardly ever found to give his or her opinion testimony without a fee." Under the authority of <u>Pandula v. Fonseca</u>, 199 So. 358, 359-60 (Fla. 1940) and <u>Langston v. King</u>, 410 So.2d 179 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982) the trial court did not abuse its discretion in allowing the prosecution to explore the amount and basis of compensation.

C. The Totality of the Cross-Examination

12

The Constitution does not guarantee perfection in obtaining psychiatric evaluations. See, Ake v. Oklahoma, 470 U.S. 68, 105 S.Ct. 1087, 84 L.Ed.2d 53 (1985). If this were a perfect society, then Frances Carroll and Bret Carroll would be alive; however, Dr. Tanay's opinion was not to go unchallenged in this trial. The prosecution did attack.

jury was allowed to learn that many relevant observations had been made by individuals other than Dr. Tanay. Further, the jury was allowed to learn that defense counsel had made all these observations and impressions known to Dr. Tanay. And, finally, the jury was allowed to learn that Dr. Tanay had reviewed the materials but not relied on them in forming his A sense of pride is communicated in Dr. Tanay's testimony when he stated that his "opinion" achieved a commitment on behalf of Appellant for six months prior to trial. Dr. Tanay became argumentative and hostile when asked of the "Rosenhan Study" and was refreshed by his prior deposition. 2252 - 2257)

Dr. Tanay's admission that he was familiar with the work of Dr. Jay Ziskin'swork--Coping with Psychiatric Testimony (R 2252-2253) served as a predicate to the mental status evaluation performed by Dr. Tanay. Dr. Tanay admitted that his opinion was based on two one-hour long interviews with Appellant. (R 2332) Dr. Tanay did not consult with either a psychologist or neurologist in making his determinations. (R 2333) In other

words, Appellant was not benefited by CAT Scan/EEG/Luria-Nebraska Test/Halstead-Reitan. (R 2334) But then, did Frederick Nowitzke present himself in such a manner for Dr. Tanay to suspect organic The flaws in Dr. Tanay's social history were brain damage? exposed as he had failed to develop whether Appellant was a battered child. (R 2335) In fact, the records that Dr. Tanay did review reflected that Appellant's life history was rather (R 2336). The People point out the positive unremarkable. aspects of the cross-examination because Frederick Nowitzke did in fact enjoy an advantaged childhood; was not physically abused; matriculated through the school system; and, shows no sign of brain impairment. Through the cross-examination of Dr. Tanay, the People were able to establish the normalcy of Appellant for the benefit of the jury. Further, the cross-examination established the pre-meditation of the murder. How? Appellant used a small gun delivering one shot to each victim's head. Once Dr. Tanay finally produced his notes for the prosecution, it was revealed that Appellant had informed Dr. Tanay that he used "hollow point bullets" because "they shoot straighter", (R 2407) Dr. Tanay denied that Appellant confessed that these "hollow point bullets" were used because they shatter making them harder to identify. (R 2407-08)

Additionally, the People established the "bias" of Dr. Tanay through his publications. In other words, Dr. Tanay should never fear that he will perish as he has published. This was a family homicide and Dr. Tanay's published view is: "They rarely kill

strangers and most frequently kill those they love most. Murders seem to be the occupational hazard of love." (R 2410) See, Irizarry v. State, 496 So.2d 822, 825 (Fla. 1986) where this Court noted: "...from evidence presented, the jury could have reasonably believed that appellant's crimes resulted from passionate obsession." So it follows in this case; and, so it was rejected.

These cases do, by necessity, involve a battle of the experts. The defense attempts to discredit the People's experts; and, the People attempt to discredit the defense experts. There is a search for the truth; and, such is the process of our criminal justice system. Judge Kravitch has best resolved the problem raised by Appellant: "Partisan psychologists and psychiatrists will often disagree in courts of law. Before we are convinced of a reasonable probability that a jury verdict would have been swayed by the testimony of a mental-health professional, we must look beyond the professional's opinion, rendered in the impressive language of the discipline, to the facts upon which the opinion is based." See, Bertolotti v. Dugger, 883 F.2d 1503, 1518 (11th Cir. 1989 . At bar, there has been no abuse of discretion in the scope of cross-examination allowed.

ISSUE IV

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW IN ALLOWING THE PROSECUTION TO ESTABLISH ON CROSS-EXAMINATION THAT IT IS NOT UNCOMMON FOR PERSONS FOUND NOT GUILTY OF HOMICIDE BY REASON OF INSANITY TO SPEND ONLY SIX TO EIGHT MONTHS IN THE STATE MENTAL HOSPITAL?

(As Restated by Appellee)

issue was This made relevant by Dr. Tanay. In his testimony, Dr. Tanay made a point of establishing that he had behalf "accomplished much" of Appellant; on and. "accomplishment" was that his opinion had secured Appellant sanctuary from prosecution for six months. (R 2249) In other words, this defense witness opened the door to pre-trial confinement. (R 2249) The jury was informed that early into his six-month confinement Appellant was taken off all psychotropic (R 2250) And, that his treatment was the structure medication. and/or milieu of the state institution. Further, Dr. Tanay relied on a psychiatric report from the North Florida Evaluation Center (R 2354) which read:

> "Currently, Mr. Nowitzke has an adequate to understand his attorney's explanation of the legal issues. He presents sufficient ability to consult with his attorney with a reasonable degree of rational understanding. He is able to give an account of his actions at the time of the alleged He does have sufficient impulse offense. control to reasonably present appropriate He displays sufficient behaviors in court. ability to participate in his own best interest in the legal proceedings. ability to cope with his legal situation is adequate and unlikely to change with continued hospitalization at this facility. He may, however, nullify any one or all of the above statements by acting

inappropriately and/or displaying learned psychotic behaviors; that is, talking to himself, claim hallucinations." --that's in brackets -- "to either render himself again as incompetent for trial purposes or as an attempt to get adjudication and returned to this -facility. He is fully aware of the seriousness of the charges and the range and nature of the possible penalty."

Do you recall that?

- A. Yes, I recall reading that.
- Q. All right. "Significant Medical Issues", and there it says, "There are no significant Medical Issues.

Then the next paragraph is -- about the second or third sentence -- "His judgments and insight are fair. His attitude and behaviors tend to pose questions malingering as he nears a competency hearing in court. As he is pressed with regard to possible outcome of the legal process, he may become flippant and overly jovial. He will say that he was not himself during the shootings and, therefore, not responsible. At other times, he will say he may get the Currently, Mr. Nowitzke electric chair. presents as free of overt psychotic --" that's what it says -- "Currently, Mr. Nowitzke presents as free of overt psychotic symptoms. His actions and flow of speech indicate rational, goal-directed thought. He no evidence of hallucinations, delusions or perceptual distortions."

(R 2358-59) (emphasis supplied)

Dr. Tanay's testimony also established:

- Q. Doctor, do you believe that 80 percent of those who commit homicide could avail themselves of the insanity defense and possible prevail and, therefore, be committed instead of being sent to jail?
- A. It is -- or, it has been my view that there is a basis for making such statement, yes, sir. (R 2304)

Defense counsel did not object to any of this crossexamination. Thus, the testimony now challenged was made relevant and material by the testimony of Dr. Tanay.

Then, Dr. Vaughn testifies; and, his testimony is merely cumulative to that previously adduced by Dr. Tanay. Sanity is an issue at several stages of the criminal justice system: (1) time of the offense; (2) time of trial; (3) time that accused is rehabilitated to stand trial; (4) time of sentencing; and, (5) time of execution of death warrant. If an individual is found not guilty by reason of insanity, then is it not relevant in a capital prosecution for the trier of fact to know the time-spans of mental health habilitation? The judiciary places strong stock in a jury recommendation in a capital case.

After Dr. Vaughn left his professorship at the University of Florida, he established on direct examination that he was engaged to serve the programs in the state hospitals for the mentally criminally handicapped--including the insane unit Chattahoochee and he was supervisor at Arcadia (R 2557). Defense counsel also established that at North Florida Evaluation/Treatment Center, part of the psychiatric penal patient population is composed of individuals who have been "...adjudged not guilty by reason of insanity." (R 2559). Defense counsel with this witness elicited an opinion that only 20% of individuals charged with crimes were insane whereas, Dr. Tanay had opined that 80% of individuals charged with homicide could avail themselves of an insanity defense.

2299-2304). The door is opened; and, there was no objection to the testimony focusing on an accused being not guilty by reason of insanity. There was a conflict as to whether 20% or 80% of individuals charged with crimes were candidates for an insanity defense.

Dr. Vaughn affirmed and adopted his deposition testimony that it was not uncommon for murderers to remain in state hospitals for a term of six to eight months. (R 2597) And, Dr. Vaughn agreed with his own deposition testimony [after refreshing his memory] that a person found insane after the commission of a homicide spends approximately six to eight months in a state mental hospital. (R 2597-99). In fact, the Termination of Treatment Summary has a prognosis that Appellant might well attempt through malingering and faking attempt to secure an adjudication of [insanity at the time of the offense] so that he might be returned to the facility. (R 2639-40). On redirect examination, by defense counsel, the following was clarified:

- Q. And you talked with Mr. Schaub about the stay of individuals in State hospitals and I think something came out about six months. Were you referring to those who were found incompetent to stand trial?
- A. That's the only ones, yes.

- Q. And who makes the determination, Doctor, as to how long somebody stays in a State Institution after they have been found not guilty by reason of insanity?
- A. Well, it's the same in both cases. If a person's found competent to stand -- incompetent to stand trial before the State Hospital -- I mean, trial can come about. The State, the Court must once again say the person isn't competent, so

competency must be restored.

Even after five years, it's possible for the court to find that competency has not been restored, even in those issues.

If you get back to the issue of not guilty by reason of insanity, that's an entirely separate thing. The person must be reviewed six months after they are admitted to a hospital and then again a year. The Court receives that report. That can go on in definitely.

But release is always dependent upon the action of the circuit court. The hospitals do not release.

Q. So it is the court that will make the ultimate determination as to the release of anybody that's found not guilty by reason of insanity; is that correct?

A. Correct. (R 2655-2656)

12

Even if there were error, then was it not certainly cured by the re-direct examination of defense counsel? The issue raised is certainly a non-issue. After the cross-examination of Dr. Vaughn, defense did conduct a redirect examination which both rebuts and/or explains the matters raised on cross-examination. There was a recross examination, and without objection, the following was brought out which is helpful to and supportive of the redirect.

- Q. Doctor, the hospital makes that recommendation, do they not, to the Court and asked the Court "When are you going to want to take this man off our hands"?
- A. I don't think that's entirely accurate.
- O. What is accurate of it or inaccurate?
- A. I had mentioned to you that reports are rendered every year. And of course, in the report, the recommendation is made for release or detention.

And the Court will act accordingly; appoint its own expert and make its own decision.

But the Court, certainly -- the hospital makes makes the recommendation, negative or positive.

- Q. They make the recommendation to the Court?
- A. Yes.

Vol XV, (R2657)

It cannot be said that the redirect examination did not facilitate the discovery of truth. (R 2655-56) On this evidentiary question, if error exists [and it does not] after redirect examination, then at most it is harmless error. See, §§59.041 and 924.33, Florida Statutes (1989). Here, where the testimony is read in the totality of Dr. Vaughn's testimony, there is no error.

Appellant relies on <u>Williams v. State</u>, 68 So.2d 583 (Fla. 1953) for reversal. There, in closing argument, the prosecution informed the jury that should Patrick Henry Williams be found not guilty by reason of insanity he would be sent to the insane asylum and soon after being confined there would be released to commit another homicide. There was a confession of error; and, presumedly there was no evidentiary support for the argument. At bar, on cross examination; redirect examination; and, recross examination, the jury was afforded a full and fair disclosure of the consequences of a "not guilty by reason of insanity" verdict. It cannot be argued that this contributed to the conviction of Appellant. Why? Because Appellant has always admitted that he is a murderer and the only issue was his competency. Florida

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